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I.    BACKGROUND 

1. Several petitions received by the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights 
(hereinafter "the Commission") between September 15, 1989 and November 19, 
1993, charged that the Republic of Peru (hereinafter "Peru" or "the State") violated 
the rights of Messrs. Anetro Castillo Pezo, Alejandro Carhuamaca Vilchez, Juan 
Alberto Vásquez González, Arnaldo Ríos Vega, Reiner Ríos Rengifo, Elmer Barrera Del 
Aguila, David Rodríguez Ayachi, Guzmán Penchi Ubiachigua, Darwin Tapullima 
Huainacama, Venancio Pinchi Puyo, Antonio Santiago Chávez Ruíz, Ricardo Fernando 
Del Río Adrián, Esteban Ramos Huayanay, Rafael Tello Acosta, Violeta Campos 
Linares, Mauricio Java Garcia, Olivia Tejada Clemente and Beder Baca Alvarado 
Alvarado when they were arbitrarily arrested in the department of San Martin by 
members of the Peruvian armed forces, and were later described as "disappeared." 
The petitioners charge that as a consequence of these disappearances, the State 
violated, in prejudice of the aforementioned victims, their right to life and other 
rights embodied in the American Convention on Human Rights (hereinafter the 
"Convention" here).1 

 II.    EVENTS, PROCESSING AND POSITION TAKEN BY THE STATE 

A.    Arrest-disappearance of Messrs. Anetro Castillo Pezo, Alejandro 
Carhuamaca Vilchez, 
        Juan Alberto Vásquez González, Arnaldo Ríos Vega, Reiner Ríos 
Rengifo, Elmer Barrera 
        del Águila, David Rodríguez Ayachi, Guzman Penchi Ubiachigua, Darwin 
Tapullima 
        Huainacama, Venancio Pinchi Puyo and Antonio Santiago Chávez Ruiz - 
Case 10.471 

The Events 

2. On August 27, 1989, a group of members of the Peruvian army moved into the 
area surrounding Acceso Limón and La Esperanza, located in the province of 
Tocache, the department of San Martin. These soldiers arrived in the villages in 



vehicles and helicopters. They sacked the houses and took motorcycles, electricity 
generators and other items. 

3. As these events were unfolding, the soldiers proceeded to arrest Messrs. Anetro 
Castillo Pezo, Alejandro Carhuamaca Vilchez, Juan Alberto Vásquez González, 
Arnaldo Ríos Vega, Reiner Ríos Rengifo, Elmer Barrera Del Aquila, David Rodríguez 
Ayachi, Guzmán Penchi Ubiachigua, Darwin Tapullima Huainacama, Venancio Pinchi 
Puyo and Antonio Santiago Chávez Ruiz, who were in the village at the time, and 
took them away in helicopters. 

4. As of the date that the Commission received the charges related to these events, 
the whereabouts of the victims were unknown, even though many attempts have 
been made to locate them. The family members of the victims have spoken on many 
occasions with local and national authorities in attempts to secure their release. In 
most of these efforts, the victims' family members had the assistance of a non-
governmental organization, CEAS. As part of their efforts, they made the events 
known to the Senior Prosecuting Attorney of San Martin and the Special Public 
Defense Attorney for the People and Human Rights of San Martin. 

Processing by the Commission 

5. On October 10, 1989, the Commission opened this case. It transmitted the 
pertinent parts of the complaint to the Peruvian government and requested the 
Government to provide information within a term of 90 days. The State responded 
on June 23, 1994. 

Friendly Settlement 

6. On June 24, 1998, both parties were requested to provide the Commission with 
updated information on the case and were informed that the Commission was placing 
itself at their disposal to attempt to reach a friendly settlement of this matter. On 
August 6, 1998, the State confirmed its earlier arguments, questioned the 
admissibility of the case and stated that it thought it unwise to undertake a friendly 
settlement procedure. The petitioner, for its part, did not reply within the specified 
time. 

Position of by the State 

7. The State argues that it did not arrest the victims. 

B.    Arrest-disappearance of Mr. Ricardo Fernando del Río Adrián - Case 
10.955 

The Events 

8. Mr. Ricardo Fernando Del Río Adrian was a 30-year-old farmer who lived with Mrs. 
Alcira Valverde Vásquez. Mr. Del Río Adrián was the father of two girls. 

9. On Monday, September 9, 1991, Mr. Del Río Adrián was in the city of Tocache 
taking his daughter, Jackeline, to medical care. On that occasion, and in the 
presence of many witnesses, Mr. Del Río Adrián was arrested in a public place by 



four members of the Peruvian army from the Tocache Military Base. The soldiers 
beat the victim and then climbed with him into a bus that happened to be passing by 
the place. The bus went to the Tocache Military Base. 

10. Also present in the bus were other passengers who saw the soldiers and the 
victim get out of the bus in front of the Tocache Military Base, and enter that military 
facility. In addition, a soldier who was performing his service at that military facility 
confirmed to Mrs. Alcira Valdeverde Vásquez, the woman with whom the victim lived, 
that Mr. Del Río Adrián was under arrest at that base. 

11. A non-commissioned officer from the Tocache Military Base known as "Holm" 
said to Mrs. Margarita Del Río Adrián during several of her attempts to locate the 
victim: 

Madam, every arrested person who comes here without documents is assumed to be a terrorist. We don't arrest 
anybody just for the fun of it; when we arrest them, it is because our secret agents have told us that the person 
is a terrorist and anybody who is arrested for being a terrorist, or assumed to be a terrorist, and who has no 
documents, we quickly kill them. 

12. The family members of the victim attempted many times to have local and 
national authorities secure his release. In most of these efforts, the family members 
of the victim were assisted by the non-governmental organization, CEAPAZ. As part 
of her efforts, Mrs. Aida Esther Valverde Vásquez, the sister-in-law of the victim, 
filed a complaint in connection with these events with the Office of the Mixed 
Provincial Prosecuting Attorney of Tocache, on September 14, 1991. In addition, on 
September 23, 1991, Mrs. Margarita Del Río Adrián, the sister of the victim, filed a 
complaint regarding these events in Lima with the Office of the Special Public 
Defense Attorney for the People and Human Rights. On September 23, 1991, Mrs. 
Margarita Del Río Adrián filed an appeal for habeas corpus with the Investigative 
Judge for the Province of Tocache. On September 23, 1991, Mrs. Margarita Del Río 
Adrián filed a complaint with the Political-Military Chief of San Martin and the Minister 
of Defense. Despite these efforts, the military personnel still denied they arrested the 
victim, who has never been seen since his arrest. 

Processing by the Commission 

13. On October 17, 1991, the Commission started its processing of the case. It 
transmitted the pertinent parts of the complaint to the Peruvian State and requested 
it to provide information within a term of 90 days. The State responded on December 
26, 1991, and sent additional letters on September 22, 1992, July 16, 1993 and 
August 30, 1993. The petitioner presented observations to the reply from the State 
on May 14, 1991, and presented an additional letter dated February 26, 1993. 

Friendly settlement 

14. On June 24, 1998, both parties were requested to provide the Commission with 
updated information about the case and were informed that the Commission was 
putting itself at their disposal in an attempt to reach a friendly settlement of the 
matter. On July 24, 1998, the State confirmed its earlier arguments, questioned the 
admissibility of the case, and stated that it considered it unwise to start a friendly 
settlement proceeding. The petitioner, for its part, did not reply within the specified 
time. 



Position of the State 

15. The State maintains that it did not arrest the victim. 

C.    Arrest-disappearance of Mr. Esteban Ramos Huayanay - Case 11.014 

The events 

16. Mr. Esteban Ramos Huayanay, 28 years of age, was a rural person married to 
Mrs. Eulalia Poma Aguirre. 

17. On December 17, 1991, Mr. Ramos Huayanay was arrested by members of the 
Peruvian army from the Uchiza Military Base. The commanding officer of that military 
base was known as Major "Blanco." Mr. Huayanay was arrested in the village of 
Pampayaco, in the Uchiza district, Tocache province, the department of San Martin. 

18. Mrs. Eulalia Poma Aguirre, the wife of the victim, succeeded in locating her 
husband with the help of a local attorney. Her husband was in fact under arrest at 
the aforementioned Uchiza Military Base. In view of the situation, Mrs. Poma Aguirre 
requested the Prosecuting Attorney of Tocache to intervene. The Prosecuting 
Attorney went with her to the military base where it had been previously ascertained 
that her husband was located. When the aforementioned Prosecuting Attorney 
arrived there, the soldiers at the base denied that the victim was under arrest there. 

19. Even though on the occasion mentioned in the previous paragraph military 
members at the Uchiza base denied that the victim was under arrest there, soldiers 
from that military installation stated in March 1992 that they had transferred the 
arrested person to the city of Tarapoto, in the province of Tarapoto, San Martin 
department. 

20. The family members of the victim attempted many times to have local and 
national authorities secure his release. On most of these occasions, the family 
members of the victim had the assistance of the non-governmental organization, 
CEAPAZ. As part of these efforts, on April 10, 1992, the Prosecuting Attorney of 
Turno from the province of San Martin-Tarapoto, went to the Morales Military Camp 
and determined that the victim was not under arrest there. 

Processing by the Commission 

21. On June 12, 1992, the Commission opened this case and transmitted the 
pertinent parts of the complaint to the Peruvian State and requested it to provide 
information within a term of 90 days. On October 25, 1993, the petitioner repeated 
the complaint. The State responded on June 26, 1994. The petitioner presented 
observations to the response from the State on August 12, 1994. 

Friendly settlement 

22. On June 24, 1998, both parties were requested to provide the Commission with 
updated information on the case and were informed that the Commission was placing 
itself at their disposal to try to reach a friendly settlement of the matter. On July 24, 
1998, the State confirmed its earlier arguments, questioned the admissibility of the 



case and stated that it did not consider it wise to start a friendly settlement 
proceeding. The petitioner, for its part, did not respond within the specified time. 

Position of the State 

23. The State denies that the victim was arrested by members of the military. 

D.    Arrest-disappearance of Mr. Rafael Tello Acosta - Case 11.066 

The events 

24. Mr. Rafael Tello Acosta was 31 years of age. He was single, a rural person, born 
in Lamas, in the province of Lamas, San Martin department. On June 11, 1992, Mr. 
Tello Acosta was arrested by troops of the Peruvian army in the village of Las Flores 
del Río Mayo, in the province of Lamas. He was taken to the military base at 
Tabalosos, in a public transportation vehicle which was carrying another six arrested 
persons. The driver of the vehicle in which Mr. Tello Acosta was taken was Mr. Teddy 
Huaman Soria, who knew the victim personally since they both had grown up in the 
same area. 

25. Mrs. Melita Tello Lozano, an aunt of the victim, was informed confidentially that 
the victim was under arrest in Section 10 of the Mariscal Caceres de Morales Camp, 
but military officials denied this. 

26. The family members of Mr. Tello Acosta, especially his aunt, Mrs. Melita Tello 
Lozano, made many efforts with local and national authorities to secure the release 
of the victim. In most of these attempts, the family members of the victim were 
represented by or advised by the Office of the Prelate for Social Action of 
Moyobamba (OPASM). As part of these efforts, Mrs. Melita Tello Lozano filed a 
complaint about the arrest of the victim with the Provincial Office of the District 
Attorney of Lamas. 

27. Mrs. Melita Tello Lozano also filed a complaint regarding these events with the 
Office of the Provincial Prosecuting Attorney of San Martin-Tarapoto. She filed this 
complaint jointly with Mrs. María Armijos Rojas. Another complaint regarding these 
events was filed with the National Coordination Office of Human Rights, and the 
Ministry of Defense of Peru. An appeal for habeas corpus was also filed in behalf of 
the victim with the Investigative Judge of Tarapoto. Despite the aforementioned 
efforts, and all the other efforts made in this connection, the victim was not located. 

Processing by the Commission 

28. On November 13, 1992, the Commission opened the case and transmitted the 
pertinent parts of the complaint to the Peruvian State and requested it to provide 
information within a term of 90 days. The State responded on June 17, 1993, and on 
December 12, 1993, expanded its response. 

Friendly settlement 

29. On June 24, 1998, the two parties were requested to provide the Commission 
with updated information about the case and were informed that the Commission 



was placing itself at their disposal to try to reach a friendly settlement of the matter. 
On July 24, 1998, the State confirmed its earlier arguments, questioned the 
admissibility of the case and stated that it did not consider it advisable to start a 
friendly settlement proceeding. The petitioner, for its part, did not respond within the 
specified time. 

Position of the State 

30. The State charged that it was investigating and later stated that the victim had 
not been arrested by members of the police. 

E.    Arrest-disappearance of Miss. Violeta Campos Linares - Case 11.067 

The events 

31. Miss Violeta Campos Linares was 16 years of age. She was an unmarried student 
who lived in Tabalosos, province of Lamas, San Martin department, although she was 
originally from Chiclayo, in the northeastern part of Marañón. 

32. Miss Campos Linares was arrested on June 12, 1992, in front of many witnesses, 
in Flores del Río Mayo, by a Peruvian army patrol under the command of a lieutenant 
known as "Brando." Immediately after she was arrested, she was taken to the 
Tabalosos Military Base and then transferred to Yuracyaco, the province of Rioja, on 
June 17, 1992. 

33. The family members of Miss Campos Linares, her mother in particular, Mrs. Ana 
Llerme Linares Villanueva, made many attempts with local and national authorities to 
secure her release. In most of these attempts, the family members of the victim 
were represented or advised by the Office of the Prelate of Social Action of 
Moyobamba (OPASM). As part of her efforts, Mrs. Ana Llerme Linares Villanueva filed 
a complaint regarding the arrest of the victim with the Office of the Provincial 
Prosecuting Attorney of Lamas, and repeated her complaint later on. 

34. A complaint about these events was also filed with the Office of the Provincial 
Prosecuting Attorney of San Martin, the Office of the Provincial Prosecuting Attorney 
of Rioja and the Office of the Provincial Prosecuting Attorney of Tarapoto. In addition, 
an appeal for habeas corpus was also filed on behalf of the victim with the 
Investigative Judge of the province of San Martin. Despite these efforts, and all the 
other actions taken in this regard, the victim has not been located. 

Processing by the Commission 

35. On November 18, 1992, the Commission opened the case and transmitted the 
pertinent parts of the complaint to the Peruvian State and requested it to provide 
information within a term of 90 days. The State replied on March 19, 1993. 

Friendly settlement 

36. On June 24, 1998, both parties were requested to provide the Commission with 
updated information about the case and were informed that the Commission was 
placing itself at their disposal to attempt to reach a friendly settlement of the matter. 



On July 24, 1998, the State confirmed its earlier arguments, questioned the 
admissibility of the case and stated that it did not consider it advisable to start a 
friendly settlement proceeding. The petitioner, for its part, did not respond within the 
specified time. 

Position of the State 

37. The State alleged that it was currently investigating the facts. 

F.    Arrest-disappearance of Mr. Mauricio Java García - Case 11.070 

The events 

38. Mr. Mauricio Java García, son of Mr. Turiano Java Acho and Mrs. Ana García 
Villacorta, was 19 years of age. He was a student, and single, and was living at Jr. 
Alfonzo Ugarte Nº 981, Tarapoto. 

39. On May 29, 1992, at 11:00 p.m., members of the Peruvian army violently broke 
into the dwelling of the victim and, after searching it, proceeded to arrest the victim 
in the presence of his parents, and to take him to Mariscal Andrés Avelino Cáceres 
Barracks of the district of Morales. Mrs. Ana García Villacorta, the mother of the 
victim, saw her son being taken into the facilities at this military base. 

40. Another arrested person, named "Polidoro," heard the name of the victim at the 
Morales Military Base. In addition, according to confidential information obtained by 
family members, the victim was severely tortured. 

41. Mrs. Ana García Villacorta, the mother of the victim, sent a handwritten letter to 
the Commission and stated the following: 

This simple letter is to greet you cordially and to ask a great favor of you, which is to have your organization 
make all the necessary efforts to have my son Mauricio Java Garcia returned to me. I am just a mother, and do 
not have economic resources. 

Doctor, I ask you please to do everything you can, since my son was arrested on May 29 in my own house at 
11:00 p.m., and taken to the Morales Camp. To this date they still say that my son is not at the camp, but they 
knocked down the door in our house and went through all of our things but they did not find anything to 
condemn my son Mauricio. 

You have my warmest greetings and my appreciation in advance. I am the mother of Mauricio Java García. 

42. The family members of Mr. Java García, especially his mother, Mrs. Ana García 
Villacorta, made many efforts with local and national authorities to secure his 
release. In most of these occasions, the family members of the victim were 
represented or advised by the Office of the Prelate of Social Action of Moyobamba 
(OPASM). 

43. As part of these efforts, Mrs. Ana García Villacorta filed a complaint in connection 
with the arrest of the victim with the Office of the Provincial Prosecuting Attorney of 
San Martin-Tarapoto, repeated the same charge to the Office of the Provincial 
Prosecuting Attorney of San Martin, and filed an appeal of habeas corpus with the 
Court of the Investigating Judge of Tarapoto. Despite these efforts, and all the other 
efforts made in this connection, the victim has not been located. 



Processing by the Commission 

44. On November 18, 1992, the Commission opened the case. It transmitted the 
pertinent parts of the complaint to the Peruvian State and requested it to provide 
information within a term of 90 days. The State responded on September 15, 1993, 
and expanded its reply on October 29, 1993. 

Friendly settlement 

45. On June 24, 1998, both parties were requested to provide the Commission with 
updated information about the case and were informed that the Commission was 
placing itself at their disposal to try to reach a friendly settlement of the matter. On 
July 24, 1998, the State confirmed its earlier arguments, questioned the admissibility 
of the case and stated that it did not consider it advisable to start a friendly 
settlement proceeding. The petitioner, for its part, did not respond within the 
specified time. 

Position of the State 

46. The State maintained that it was investigating the events. 

C. Arrest-disappearance of Mrs. Olivia Tejada Clemente and Mr. Beder Baca 
Alvarado 
        Alvarado - Case 11.163 

The events 

47. Mr. Beder Baca Alvarado Alvarado was 25 years of age, and Mrs. Olivia Tejada 
Clemente was 28 years of age. She was engaged in commercial activities. Both lived 
in a house located at Jr. Progreso Nº 707, Tocache, in San Martin department. 

48. On February 20, 1993, at approximately 11:30 a.m., both victims were arrested 
in their dwelling by four members of the Peruvian army and taken to the Nº 26 
Counter-Subversion Base of the Peruvian army, in a pickup truck. 

49. Once at the aforementioned military base, these victims were severely tortured. 
A friend of the victims who was arrested for one day at the same military base 
confirmed that he had seen the victims inside the base. In addition, Mrs. Ercilla 
Alvarado Araujo, the mother of Mr. Beder Baca Alvarado Alvarado, obtained 
information from two other persons who told that her son was under arrest at the 
military base and was being tortured. One of them was a person who was working 
inside the military base on construction, and the other was a soldier at the base who 
provided information to a nephew of Mrs. Ercilla Alvarado Araujo. 

50. The friend of the victims who were under arrest at the military base stated that 
the military personnel hid certain arrested persons when authorities came to the 
base to find out about them: 

They hide the arrested persons in a well at the end of the EP base and they hide some others in the bathroom, 
and they hide arrested persons when some authority or someone from the Red Cross comes to the base, and 
they do this when the people come to the base to see them and that is when they hide them. 



51. The family members of the victims, especially Mr. Manuel Tejada Calixto, Mrs. 
Olivia Tejada Clemente and Mr. Víctor Raúl Alvarado Alvarado made many efforts 
with local and national authorities to secure their release. As part of their efforts, 
they filed charges with the Human Rights Office of the Office of the Assistant Prefect 
of the province of Tocache and the Office of the Mixed Provincial Prosecuting 
Attorney of Tocache. They also made a number of efforts with the military authorities 
to secure the release of the victims. Despite their efforts, and all the other actions 
made in this regard, the victims have not been located. 

Processing by the Commission 

52. On May 28, 1993, the Commission opened this case and transmitted the 
pertinent parts of the complaint to the Peruvian State, and requested it to provide 
information within a term of 90 days. The State responded on December 2, 1993, 
and expanded its reply on February 1, 1994. 

Friendly settlement 

53. On June 24, 1998, both parties were requested to provide the Commission with 
updated information on the case and were informed that the Commission was placing 
itself at their disposal to attempt to reach a friendly settlement of the matter. On 
July 24, 1998, the State confirmed its earlier arguments, questioned the admissibility 
of the case and stated that it did not consider it advisable to start a friendly 
settlement proceeding. The petitioner, for its part, did not reply within the specified 
time. 

Position of the State 

54. The State contended that the arrest had not been made by members of the 
National Police Force and that it was investigating the events. 

III.    FRIENDLY SETTLEMENT 

55. As explained earlier with regard to the processing of all the cases analyzed here, 
the Commission, in accordance with the provisions of Article 48(1)(f) of the 
Convention, placed itself at the disposal of the parties to assist them in seeking a 
friendly settlement based on respect for the human rights recognized in the 
Convention. However, for the reasons we have referred to above, that option was 
not pursued. 

IV.    COMPETENCE OF THE COMMISSION 

56. The Commission is competent to review the above petitions. The petitioners have 
the legal standing to present their case and have complained of failures by agents of 
a State Party to comply with provisions of the Convention. The events alleged by the 
petitions took place at a time when the obligation to respect and guarantee the 
rights established in the Convention was already in force for the Peruvian State.2 

V.    ADMISSIBILITY OF THE SPECIFIC CASES 



57. Given that the Commission is competent to hear these cases--in other words, the 
petitions under review meet the basic requirements for the Commission's 
international function of ruling on allegations of human rights violations--the 
Commission will now proceed to determine the admissibility of the cases under 
review, according to the provisions of Articles 46 and 47 of the Convention. 

A.    Exhaustion of domestic remedies 

58. As stated earlier, the relatives of the victims applied on numerous occasions to 
various judicial, executive (military), and legislative authorities to locate the victims 
and secure their release. These efforts usually included writs of habeas corpus; 
complaints to the Attorney General, the Chief Prosecutor in San Martín, the Special 
Attorney for Human Rights in San Martín, the Office of the Special Ombudsman, and 
the Offices of the Provincial Prosecutors; and appeals to the Ministry of Defense, the 
Army High Command, the Office of the Inspector General of the Army, the Political-
Military Commander in Chief, and the commanding officers at the military bases 
concerned. Despite all these efforts, the victims were never located and never 
reappeared. 

59. All these procedures and appeals by the relatives of the victims proved fruitless, 
because the same people who had allegedly brought about the disappearances and 
who hid the evidence played a key part in the results of the investigations. None of 
the writs of habeas corpus was successful in any of the cases. Likewise, the 
complaints filed with the offices of the government prosecutors led to little more than 
a request for information from the military, who would deny the detention. The cases 
were then shelved without ever being brought before the competent court of the first 
instance. It should be added that generally the Peruvian Government's replies to the 
Commission denying responsibility for the disappearances are based precisely on 
photocopies, sent to the Commission, of official communications in which the military 
itself denies having carried out the arrests.  

60. The fact that, during the early stages of the proceedings, the State did not claim 
failure to exhaust domestic remedies in virtually any of the cases would be sufficient 
grounds for the Commission to find that the requirement established in Article 46 
(1)(a) of the Convention has been met.  

61. Nevertheless, the Commission considers it important to provide certain 
clarifications regarding the exhaustion of domestic remedies in connection with the 
forced disappearances in Peru. In this regard, it should be noted that the Inter-
American Court of Human Rights has held, in connection with the exhaustion of 
domestic remedies, that, "in keeping with the object and purpose of the Convention 
and in accordance with an interpretation of Article 46 (1)(a) of the Convention, the 
proper remedy in the case of the forced disappearance of persons would ordinarily be 
habeas corpus, since those cases require urgent action by the authorities" (and it is) 
"the normal means of finding a person presumably detained by the authorities, of 
ascertaining whether he is legally detained and, given the case, of obtaining his 
liberty."3 Thus, when a writ of habeas corpus is presented in the case of persons who 
were detained and then disappeared, and nothing comes of it because the victims 
are not located, those are sufficient grounds for finding that domestic remedies have 
been exhausted.4 



62. However, the Court has also ruled that domestic remedies must be effective, that 
is, they must be capable of producing the results for which they were intended,5 and 
that if there is proof of a practice or policy, ordered or tolerated by the government, 
the effect of which is to prevent certain persons from availing themselves of internal 
remedies that would normally be available to all others, resorting to those remedies 
becomes a senseless formality, so that the exceptions to the exhaustion of domestic 
remedies provided for in Article 46(2) of the Convention would be fully applicable.6 

63. In its analysis of the substance of the case, set forth in section VI below, the 
Commission finds that, during the period in which the alleged events took place, 
there existed in Peru a practice or policy of disappearances, ordered or tolerated by 
various government authorities. For that reason, and given that that practice 
rendered writs of habeas corpus completely ineffective in cases of disappearances,7 

the Commission finds that, for purposes of admissibility of complaints before this 
Commission, it was not necessary to attempt the habeas corpus remedy--or any 
other--in order to exhaust domestic remedies. Consequently, the Commission 
considers that the rule regarding exceptions to the exhaustion of domestic remedies 
established in Article 46(2) of the Convention is fully applicable. Nevertheless, the 
Commission observes that, in these cases, such efforts and remedies at the domestic 
level were attempted to no avail. Accordingly, the Commission finds that the 
admissibility requirement relating to exhaustion of domestic remedies has been met 
in the cases at hand. 

B.    Form requirements 

64. The petitions are in proper legal form, as established in Article 46(1)(d) of the 
Convention. 

C.    Duplication of procedures and resubmission of petition previously 
examined  

65. Since the State has not put forward any argument in this regard, the 
understanding of the Commission is that the questions raised in the petitions are not 
pending of settlement in any other international proceedings and are not identical in 
substance to petitions previously examined by this Commission or by another 
international organization. Thus it finds that the requirements set forth in Articles 
46(1)(c) and 47(1)(d) of the Convention have also been met. 

D.    Basis for the petitions 

66. The Commission finds that, in principle, the complaints of the petitioners refer to 
events that could constitute violations of rights guaranteed under the Convention. 
Since there is no evidence that the petitions are either manifestly groundless or out 
of order, the Commission finds that the requirements of Articles 47(b) and 47(c) of 
the Convention have been met. 

67. For the foregoing reasons, the Commission finds that the cases under review are 
admissible. 

VI.    EXAMINATION OF THE MERITS 



A.    Disappearances in Peru 

Disappearances brought about by the State 

68. As established earlier, the Commission decided to combine the cases under 
review because it considers that the alleged events suggest a pattern of 
disappearances brought about by Peruvian State agents around the same time 
period (1989-1993), within the context of what are called anti-subversive activities, 
and employing the same modus operandi. 

69. The Commission therefore decided to look into the possible existence of a 
practice of forced disappearances brought about by the Peruvian State, or at least 
tolerated by it, during the period in question (1989-1993). The Commission cannot 
ignore, to use the words of the Inter-American Court, "the special seriousness of 
finding that a State Party to the Convention has carried out or has tolerated a 
practice of disappearances in its territory."8 Nonetheless, it is crucial that the 
Commission, in accordance with the functions assigned to it, carry out that analysis, 
not only for the purposes of this report, but also to arrive at the truth regarding a 
policy of human rights violations, with all its possible repercussions for the 
clarification of other cases that have come to the attention of this Commission. 

70. In this regard, it should be pointed out that the criteria used to evaluate 
evidence in an international court of human rights have special standards,9 which 
empower the Commission to weigh the evidence freely and to determine the amount 
of proof necessary to support the judgment.10 

71. The modus operandi used, according to the petitions received by the 
Commission, in the arrests and disappearances in the cases in question, involving 
Messrs. Anetro Castillo Pezo, Alejandro Carhuamaca Vilchez, Juan Alberto Vásquez 
González, Arnaldo Ríos Vega, Reiner Ríos Rengifo, Elmer Barrera Del Aguila, David 
Rodríguez Ayachi, Guzmán Penchi Ubiachigua, Darwin Tapullima Huainacama, 
Venancio Pinchi Puyo, Antonio Santiago Chávez Ruiz, Ricardo Fernando Del Río 
Adrián, Esteban Ramos Huayanay, Rafael Tello Acosta, Violeta Campos Linares, 
Mauricio Java García, Olivia Tejada Clemente and Beder Baca Alvarado Alvarado, 
shows an overall pattern of behavior that can be considered admissible evidence of a 
systematic practice of disappearances. 

72. The Commission has received a very large number of complaints of 
disappearances in Peru, many of which pertain to multiple disappeared persons. In 
its 1993 Report on the Situation of Human Rights in Peru, the Commission discussed 
the problem of the forced disappearance of persons in that country and indicated 
that it had already passed 43 resolutions regarding individual cases involving 106 
victims.11 Subsequently, the Commission has continued to write reports on the 
matter.12 Moreover, the Peruvian State itself has officially recognized the existence 
of forced disappearances and has reported on 5,000 complaints of disappearances 
between 1983 and 1991.13 The large number of complaints of this type is a clear 
indication, in the Commission’s view, that disappearances in Peru followed an official 
pattern devised and carried out in a systematic manner. 

73. This indication is supported by the fact that, at the United Nations (UN), the 
Working Group on Enforced or Involuntary Disappearances, established by the 



Commission on Human Rights in 1980, had received 3,004 cases of forced 
disappearances in Peru. That Group points out that: 

The vast majority of the 3,004 cases of reported disappearances in Peru occurred between 1983 and 1992, in the 
context of the Government's fight against terrorist organizations, especially the "Shining Path" (Sendero 
Luminoso). In late1982, the armed forces and police undertook a counter-insurgency campaign and the armed 
forces were granted a great deal of latitude in fighting Shining Path and in restoring public order. While the 
majority of reported disappearances took place in areas of the country which had been under a state of 
emergency and were under military control, in particular in the regions of Ayacucho, Huancavelica, San Martín, 
and Apurímac, disappearances also took place in other parts of Peru. Detentions were reportedly frequently 
carried out openly by uniformed members of the armed forces, sometimes together with Civil Defense Groups. 
Some 20 other cases reportedly occurred in 1993 in the Department of Ucayali and concerned largely the 
disappearance of peasants.14 

74. Dr. Imelda Tumialán, the ad hoc Provincial Prosecutor for the Department of 
Junín, has placed on record that in 1991 there were more than 100 disappearances 
in that Department.15 Likewise, in a note dated January 9, 1992, Peru's Assistant 
Attorney General pointed out that in the first 11 months of 1991 there had been 268 
complaints of disappearances, and that only a few cases had been solved. For its 
part, the National Coordinating Body for Human Rights in Peru, a recognized 
nongovernmental umbrella group of various Peruvian human rights organizations, 
estimates that 725 persons disappeared in Peru between 1990 and 1992.16 The 
Commission has been told that reports circulating freely in Peru indicated that 
military personnel, and in some cases police officers, were carrying out 
disappearances. The Commission has received numerous articles and news reports 
on such disappearances, published by the print media and others. 

75. On the basis of the foregoing evidence, the Commission concludes that in the 
1989-1993 period there existed in Peru a systematic and selective practice of forced 
disappearances, carried out by agents of, or at least tolerated by, the Peruvian 
State. That official practice of forced disappearances was part of the "fight against 
subversion", although in many cases it harmed people who had nothing to do with 
the activities related to dissident groups. 

B.    Perpetration of the disappearances 

76. On the basis of the various items of evidence mentioned above, the Commission 
sees fit to map out the steps usually involved in the above-mentioned official policy 
of disappearances: 

 Detention of the victims 

77. The Commission has been told that, in general, perpetration of the 
disappearances was delegated to the political military commanders and the 
commanding officers at military bases. The latter imparted orders directly to the 
personnel who carried out the detentions, normally the first stage of the 
disappearance process. Peru's national police force was also in charge of perpetrating 
disappearances, usually through DINCOTE. 

78. Most often the abduction and disappearance of a person began with information 
obtained by members of the intelligence service, according to which that person was 
in some way linked to subversive groups, chiefly the Shining Path or the Tupac 
Amaru Revolutionary Movement (MRTA). It should be pointed out that in many 
instances the persons concerned were in no way involved with those subversive 



groups, but were unfortunate enough to have been included, fraudulently or by 
mistake, on the lists that would later lead to their disappearance. 

79. Another factor that, in certain Departments and under particular circumstances, 
could lead to the detention and later disappearance of many people was the fact that 
they were not carrying their voter registration documents, which were used for 
identification purposes. In certain cases, during checkpoint operations on public 
thoroughfares, a person unable to produce an identification document upon request 
was almost automatically considered a terrorist. 

80. Once a person was considered "suspect", he or she was arrested; on numerous 
occasions, this was the first step toward disappearance. Some arrests were carried 
out openly in public, others at the victim's home, usually in the early hours of the 
morning and in the presence of witnesses. Those charged with carrying out the 
detentions were heavily armed soldiers or police, sometimes dressed in civilian 
clothing, but most often in uniform. 

81. Generally, the soldiers or police paid little attention to the witnesses and 
proceeded to do what they came to do anyway. Arrests in people's homes were 
usually carried out in front of whoever happened to be there: wives, children, 
fathers, mothers, etc. Thus the normal pattern was for the personnel to arrest the 
victim regardless of who might be present, with no attempt to hide the official nature 
of what they were doing. 

Official denial of the detentions 

82. The same day of the arrest, or in the days immediately following, relatives would 
go to the place where the victim was detained and be told that he or she was not 
being held. It should be stressed that since the arrests were usually carried out 
publicly, the relatives knew where the victim had first been detained. Nevertheless, 
the authorities denied the detention. As the Commission has established previously: 

The fact that the military authorities deny having carried out the detention thus merely confirms the clandestine 
nature of the military operations. Detention is neither registered nor officially admitted, in order to make it 
possible to employ torture during interrogation and if need be to apply extrajudicial punishment to persons 
considered to be sympathizers, collaborators, or members of the rebel groups.17 

83. A variation on this practice consisted of the authorities alleging that the victim 
had been released and even producing documents to show this, sometimes with a 
forgery of the victim’s signature, others with his or her real signature obtained under 
torture, when in fact the release had never taken place. 

Torture and extrajudicial execution of detainees 

84. When the victim did not die as a result of the torture inflicted, he or she was 
generally executed in summary, extrajudicial fashion. The bodies were then hidden 
by burial in secret places chosen to make their discovery practically impossible. 

Amnesty for those responsible for the disappearances 

85. In general, cases of disappearance in Peru were not seriously investigated. In 
practice, those responsible enjoyed almost total impunity, since they were carrying 



out an official State plan. Despite that, the authorities decided to go even further by 
passing Act Nº 26.479 (the "Amnesty Act") in 1995. Article 1 of that Law grants a 
blanket amnesty to all members of the security forces and civilian personnel 
accused, investigated, indicted, prosecuted, or convicted for human rights violations 
committed between May 1980 and June 1995. That law was later strengthened by 
Act Nº 26.492, which prohibited the judiciary from ruling on the legality or 
applicability of the Amnesty Law. In its annual reports for 1996 and 1997, the 
Commission has addressed the issue of those amnesty laws in the overall analysis of 
the human rights situation in Peru. 

86. Although the Commission has been told that both laws can be rendered 
inapplicable by Peruvian judges, through what is known as their "broad powers" to 
rule on the constitutionality of laws--provided for in Article 138 of the Peruvian 
Constitution--the Commission considers the aforesaid laws an invalid attempt to 
legalize the impunity that existed in practice with regard to forced disappearances 
and other serious offenses committed by agents of the State. For example, the 
Commission has learned that the judges of the Constitutional Court, who were 
removed by the Congress, invoked that same Article 138 of the Constitution in their 
December 27, 1996, finding that Act No. 26.657 did not apply to President Alberto 
Fujimori. 

C.    The burden of proof regarding disappearances 

87. The general principle is that, in cases of disappearance in which, in the 
Commission’s view,18 there is sufficient evidence that the arrest was carried out by 
State agents acting within the general framework of an official policy of 
disappearances, it shall be presumed that the victim’s disappearance was brought 
about by acts by Peruvian State agents, unless that State gives proof to the 
contrary. 

88. Thus it is not incumbent upon the petitioners to prove that the victims have 
disappeared, because it may be assumed, for lack of proof to the contrary, that the 
Peruvian State is responsible for the disappearance of any person it has detained. 
This is even more important in view of the aforementioned government practice of 
causing disappearances. It is up to the State to prove that it was not its agents who 
brought about the disappearance of the victims.19 

89. Indeed, the "policy of disappearances, sponsored or tolerated by the 
Government, is designed to conceal and destroy evidence of disappearances"20. 

Then, as a result of action by the State, the petitioner is deprived of evidence of the 
disappearance, since "this type of repression is characterized by an attempt to 
suppress all information about the kidnapping or the whereabouts and fate of the 
victim."21 The fact is, as established by the Inter-American Court of Human Rights: 

".... in contrast to domestic criminal law, in proceedings to determine human rights violations the State cannot 
rely on the defense that the complainant has failed to present evidence when it cannot be obtained without the 
State’s cooperation."22 

90. The Commission has explained in this regard that when there is proof of the 
existence of a policy of disappearances sponsored or tolerated by the Government, it 
is possible, using circumstantial or indirect evidence, or through relevant logical 
inference, to prove the disappearance of a specific individual when that would 



otherwise be impossible given the link between that disappearance and the overall 
policy.23 

91. More recently, the Commission has also determined that: 

The burden of proof lies with the State, because when the State holds a person in detention and under its 
exclusive control, it becomes the guarantor of that person’s safety and rights. In addition, the State has exclusive 
control over information or evidence regarding the fate of the detained person. This is particularly true in a 
disappearance case where, by definition, the family members of the victim or other interested persons are unable 
to learn about the fate of the victim.24 

92. This establishes the inversion of the burden of proof for cases of disappearance 
in Peru and the effects of that inversion on cases being heard by the Commission. 

D.    Considerations relating to forced disappearances 

93. The General Assembly of the Organization of American States (OAS) has called 
the practice of the forced or involuntary disappearance of persons a crime against 
humanity that strikes against the fundamental rights of the human individual, such 
as personal liberty and well-being, the right to proper judicial protection and due 
process, and even the right to life.25 In that context, the member states of the 
Organization of American States (OAS) adopted, in 1994, an Inter-American 
Convention on the Forced Disappearance of Persons26 as a means of preventing and 
punishing the forced disappearance of persons in our Hemisphere. 

94. The Commission has affirmed, in relation to the forced disappearance of persons, 
that: 

This procedure is cruel and inhuman. ... [It] not only constitutes an arbitrary deprivation of freedom but also a 
serious danger to the personal integrity and safety and to even the very life of the victim. It leaves the victim 
totally defenseless, violating the rights to a fair trial, to protection against arbitrary arrest, and to due process.27  

95. The UN Working Group on Enforced or Involuntary Disappearances has affirmed 
that the forced or involuntary disappearance of a person is a particularly odious 
violation of human rights, and is 

a doubly paralyzing form of suffering: for the victims, frequently tortured and in constant fear for their lives, and 
for their family members, ignorant of the fate of their loved ones, their emotions alternating between hope and 
despair, wondering and waiting, sometimes for years, for news that may never come. The victims are well aware 
that their families do not know what has become of them and that the chances are slim that anyone will come to 
their aid. Having been removed from the protective precinct of the law and "disappeared" from society, they are 
in fact deprived of all their rights and are at the mercy of their captors. If death is not the final outcome and they 
are eventually released from the nightmare, the victims may suffer for a long time from the physical and 
psychological consequences of this form of dehumanization and from the brutality and torture which often 
accompany it. 

The family and friends of disappeared persons experience slow mental torture, not knowing whether the victim is 
still alive and, if so, where he or she is being held, under what conditions, and in what state of health. Aware, 
furthermore, that they too are threatened; that they may suffer the same fate themselves, and that to search for 
the truth may expose them to even greater danger. 

The family’s distress is frequently compounded by the material consequences resulting from the disappearance. 
The missing person is often the mainstay of the family’s finances. He or she may be the only member of the 
family able to cultivate the crops or run the family business. The emotional upheaval is thus exacerbated by 
material deprivation, made more acute by the costs incurred should they decide to undertake a search. 
Furthermore, they do not know when--if ever--their loved one is going to return, which makes it difficult for them 
to adapt to the new situation. In some cases, national legislation may make it impossible to receive pensions or 



other means of support in the absence of a certificate of death. Economic and social marginalization is frequently 
the result.28 

E.    Established facts 

96. As established in the previous section, the general principle is that, in cases of 
disappearance in which there is sufficient evidence, in the Commission’s judgment, 
that the detention was presumably carried out by State agents in the overall 
framework of an official policy of disappearances, the Commission shall presume that 
the victim was "disappeared" by agents of the Peruvian State, unless that State has 
proven the contrary. 

97. Thus, from the facts of the case according to the petitioners, from the testimony 
of eyewitnesses to the detentions, and from the remaining evidence in the respective 
files, including copies of the domestic procedures and appeals undertaken to locate 
and secure the release of the victims, as well as copies of the reports prepared by 
the military itself, denying that the arrests were carried out by military personnel, in 
addition to the fact that those detentions occurred in the Department of San Martín, 
where anti-subversive activities were being carried out at the time of the events, the 
Commission concludes that it has sufficient material to establish the veracity of the 
complaints, in respect of the detention of the victims. 

98. Thus, bearing in mind also that the Peruvian State has not carried out any 
genuine investigation of these serious events or produced evidence to show that 
State agents were not responsible for the detention and subsequent disappearance 
of the victims,29 the Commission concludes that those victims were "disappeared" 
by the Peruvian State, acting through its agents.  

99. On the basis of the foregoing arguments, the Commission concludes that: 

a. The events surrounding the detention and subsequent disappearance of Mr. 
Anetro Castillo Pezo, Alejandro Carhuamaca Vilchez, Juan Alberto Vásquez González, 
Arnaldo Ríos Vega, Reiner Ríos Rengifo, Elmer Barrera Del Aguila, David Rodríguez 
Ayachi, Guzmán Penchi Ubiachigua, Darwin Tapullima Huainacama, Venancio Pinchi 
Puyo and Antonio Santiago Chávez Ruiz, (Case 10.471) at the hands of Peruvian 
Army personnel, on August 27, 1989, as described in detail in paragraphs 2-4 of this 
Report, did indeed take place. 

b. The events surrounding the detention and subsequent disappearance of Mr. 
Ricardo Fernando Del Río Adrián, (Case 10.955) at the hands of Peruvian Army 
personnel, on september 9, 1991, as described in detail in paragraphs 8-12 of this 
Report, did indeed take place. 

c. The events surrounding the detention and subsequent disappearance of Mr. 
Esteban Ramos Huayanay, (Case 11.014) at the hands of Peruvian Army personnel, 
on December 17, 1991, as described in detail in paragraphs 16-20 of this Report, did 
indeed take place. 

d. The events surrounding the detention and subsequent disappearance of Mr. Rafael 
Tello Acosta (Case 11.066) at the hands of Peruvian Army personnel, on June 11, 
1992, as described in detail in paragraphs 24-27 of this Report, did indeed take 
place. 



e. The events surrounding the detention and subsequent disappearance of Mr. 
Violeta Campos Linares, (Case 11.067) at the hands of Peruvian Army personnel, on 
June 12, 1992, as described in detail in paragraphs 31-34 of this Report, did indeed 
take place. 

f. The events surrounding the detention and subsequent disappearance of Mr. 
Mauricio Java García, (Case 11.070) at the hands of Peruvian Army personnel, on 
may 29, 1992, as described in detail in paragraphs 38-43 of this Report, did indeed 
take place. 

g. The events surrounding the detention and subsequent disappearance of Ms. Olivia 
Tejada Clemente and Mr. Beder Baca Alvarado Alvarado, (Case Nº 11.163) at the 
hands of Peruvian Army personnel, on febreary 20, 1993, as described in detail in 
paragraphs 47-51 of this Report, did indeed take place. 

100. Those detentions and subsequent disappearances followed a characteristic 
pattern: detention of the victims by military personnel either in uniform or dressed in 
civilian clothing, but in either case identifiable as military by the weapons they were 
carrying and other characteristics; official denial of responsibility for the 
disappearances; failure by the public authorities to investigate the situation of the 
victims; ineffectiveness of the appeals filed; torture and, possibly, extrajudicial 
execution of the victims; and absolute impunity, reinforced subsequently by an 
amnesty. 

F.    Violation of the human rights of the victims 

101. The Commission will now analyze the specific violations by the Peruvian State of 
rights protected by the Convention, involved in the disappearances of Messrs. Anetro 
Castillo Pezo, Alejandro Carhuamaca Vilchez, Juan Alberto Vásquez González, 
Arnaldo Ríos Vega, Reiner Rios Rengifo, Elmer Barrera Del Aguila, David Rodríguez 
Ayachi, Guzmán Penchi Ubiachigua, Darwin Tapullima Huainacama, Venancio Pinchi 
Puyo, Antonio Santiago Chávez Ruiz, Ricardo Fernando Del Río Adrián, Esteban 
Ramos Huayanay, Rafael Tello Acosta, Violeta Campos Linares, Mauricio Java García, 
Olivia Tejada Clemente and Beder Baca Alvarado Alvarado. 

Right to Personal Liberty (Article 7 of the Convention) 

102. A detention is arbitrary and illegal when not carried out for the reasons, and 
according to the formalities, established by law; when carried out without adherence 
to the standards established by law; and when it involves misuse of the authority to 
arrest--in other words, when carried out for purposes other than those envisaged 
and stipulated by law. The Commission has also pointed out that detention for 
improper ends is, in itself, a form of penalty without due process, or extralegal 
punishment, which violates the guarantee of a fair trial. 

103. In this case, Peruvian citizens were detained illegally and arbitrarily by Peruvian 
Army personnel between April 1990 and November 1991, in San Martín. The file also 
shows that the military authorities have systematically denied having detained them. 

104. It is necessary to recall the circumstances in Peru at that time, which generally 
affected most of the Departments where detentions and disappearances occurred. 



Continuous raids by armed groups had generated permanent unrest in the local 
population. For that reason, a "state of exception" had been declared in various 
Departments, which was, prima facie, justified by the crisis faced by the Peruvian 
State in fighting terrorism. By virtue of that state of emergency, in numerous 
Departments Article 2(20)(g)30 of the 1979 Constitution had been suspended, which 
meant that the military was legally empowered to detain a person without a warrant 
from a competent judge, even if an individual was not being caught in flagranti. 

105. Despite the prima facie legality of this measure, the security forces are not 
thereby entitled, without restrictions, to detain citizens arbitrarily. The suspension of 
the judicial warrant requirement for detention does not mean that public officials are 
exempted from observing the legal requirements for such detentions, nor does it 
annul jurisdictional controls over the manner in which detentions are carried out. 

106. The suspension of the right to personal liberty authorized in Article 27 of the 
American Convention on Human Rights can never be absolute. There are basic 
principles at the heart of any democratic society that the security forces must 
respect in order to carry out a detention, even in a state of emergency. The legal 
prerequisites for detention are obligations that State authorities must respect, in 
keeping with their international commitment under the Convention to protect and 
respect human rights. 

107. Secondly, in accordance with those principles, preventive detention by the 
military or police must be designed solely to prevent the escape of a person 
suspected of having committed a crime and thereby ensure his appearance before a 
competent court, either for trial within a reasonable period of time or for his release. 
No State may impose a sentence without a trial.31 In a constitutional, democratic 
State in which the rule of law and the separation of powers are respected, all 
penalties established by law should be imposed by the judiciary after guilt has been 
established in a fair trial with all the procedural guarantees. The existence of a state 
of emergency does not authorize the State to disregard the presumption of 
innocence, nor does it confer upon the security forces the right to exercise an 
arbitrary and unlimited ius puniendi. 

108. On this subject, Article 7(5) of the American Convention establishes that "Any 
person detained shall be brought promptly before a judge or other officer authorized 
by law to exercise judicial power and shall be entitled to trial within a reasonable 
time or to be released...." Paragraph 6 of that article adds: "Anyone who is deprived 
of his liberty shall be entitled to recourse to a competent court, in order that the 
court may decide without delay on the lawfulness of his arrest or detention (...)". 
The Commission has also stated that anyone deprived of his liberty must be kept in 
an officially recognized detention center and brought, without delay, in accordance 
with domestic legislation, before a competent judicial authority. Should the authority 
fail to comply with this legal obligation, the State is duty-bound to guarantee the 
detainee’s right to apply for an effective judicial remedy to allow judicial verification 
of the lawfulness of his detention. 

109. The Commission concludes that the Peruvian State is responsible for violating 
the right to personal liberty and security by arbitrarily imprisoning Peruvian citizens 
Anetro Castillo Pezo, Alejandro Carhuamaca Vilchez, Juan Alberto Vásquez González, 
Arnaldo Ríos Vega, Reiner Ríos Rengifo, Elmer Barrera Del Aguila, David Rodríguez 
Ayachi, Guzmán Penchi Ubiachigua, Darwin Tapullima Huainacama, Venancio Pinchi 



Puyo, Antonio Santiago Chávez Ruiz, Ricardo Fernando Del Río Adrián, Esteban 
Ramos Huayanay, Rafael Tello Acosta, Violeta Campos Linares, Mauricio Java García, 
Olivia Tejada Clemente and Beder Baca Alvarado Alvarado; for violating their right of 
recourse to a competent judge or court that would rule on the lawfulness of their 
arrest; and, thereby, for violating Article 7 of the American Convention on Human 
Rights. 

Right to Humane Treatment (Article 5 of the Convention) 

110. Since forced disappearance involves violation of multiple rights, violation of the 
right to humane treatment is implicit in the cases of Messrs. Anetro Castillo Pezo, 
Alejandro Carhuamaca Vilchez, Juan Alberto Vásquez González, Arnaldo Ríos Vega, 
Reiner Ríos Rengifo, Elmer Barrera Del Aguila, David Rodríguez Ayachi, Guzmán 
Penchi Ubiachigua, Darwin Tapullima Huainacama, Venancio Pinchi Puyo, Antonio 
Santiago Chávez Ruiz, Ricardo Fernando Del Río Adrián, Esteban Ramos Huayanay, 
Rafael Tello Acosta, Violeta Campos Linares, Mauricio Java García, Olivia Tejada 
Clemente and Beder Baca Alvarado Alvarado. 

111. In this regard, the Court has stated that "prolonged isolation and deprivation of 
communication are in themselves cruel and inhuman treatment, harmful to the 
psychological and moral integrity of the person and a violation of the right of any 
detainee to respect for his inherent dignity as a human being. Such treatment, 
therefore, violates Article 5 of the Convention, which recognizes the right to the 
integrity of the person....."32 

112. Accordingly, the Commission, on the basis of the facts presented, is convinced, 
by way of presumptive evidence, that the detainees were tortured. The 
circumstances in which the victims were detained, kept hidden, isolated, and in 
solitary confinement, and their defenselessness as a result of being denied and 
prevented from exercising any form of protection or safeguards of their rights make 
it perfectly feasible for the armed forces to have tortured the victims with a view to 
extracting information about subversive groups or units. Accordingly, the 
Commission concludes that the Peruvian State violated the rights guaranteed to the 
victims under Article 5 of the Convention. 

Right to Life (Article 4 of the Convention) 

113. The Inter-American Court of Human Rights has stated that the forced 
disappearance of persons "often involves secret execution without trial, followed by 
concealment of the body to eliminate any material evidence of the crime and to 
ensure the impunity of those responsible. This is a flagrant violation of the right to 
life, recognized in Article 4 of the Convention...". The Court also ruled that the fact 
that a person has disappeared for seven years creates a reasonable presumption 
that he or she was killed.33 

114. In the cases of Messrs. Anetro Castillo Pezo, Alejandro Carhuamaca Vilchez, 
Juan Alberto Vásquez González, Arnaldo Ríos Vega, Reiner Ríos Rengifo, Elmer 
Barrera Del Aguila, David Rodríguez Ayachi, Guzman Penchi Ubiachigua, Darwin 
Tapullima Huainacama, Venancio Pinchi Puyo, Antonio Santiago Chávez Ruiz, Ricardo 
Fernando Del Río Adrián, Esteban Ramos Huayanay, Rafael Tello Acosta, Violeta 
Campos Linares, Mauricio Java Garcia, Olivia Tejada Clemente and Beder Baca 
Alvarado Alvarado, the above-mentioned testimony, indicia, and other evidence show 



that they were detained by State agents, which is enough to establish the 
presumption that they were also "disappeared" by state agents. 

115. There is sufficient evidence to support the presumption that Messrs. Anetro 
Castillo Pezo, Alejandro Carhuamaca Vilchez, Juan Alberto Vásquez González, 
Arnaldo Ríos Vega, Reiner Ríos Rengifo, Elmer Barrera Del Aguila, David Rodríguez 
Ayachi, Guzman Penchi Ubiachigua, Darwin Tapullima Huainacama, Venancio Pinchi 
Puyo, Antonio Santiago Chávez Ruiz, Ricardo Fernando Del Río Adrián, Esteban 
Ramos Huayanay, Rafael Tello Acosta, Violeta Campos Linares, Mauricio Java García, 
Olivia Tejada Clemente and Beder Baca Alvarado Alvarado are dead--given that 
approximately seven years have elapsed since their detention and disappearance--
and for the presumption that those responsible are agents of the State. 

116. Therefore, the Commission finds that the Peruvian State violated the victims’ 
right to life, a fundamental right protected under Article 4 of the Convention, which 
states that "Every person has the right to have his life respected... No one shall be 
arbitrarily deprived of his life." 

Right to Juridical Personality (Article 3 of the Convention) 

117. Article 3 of the American Convention on Human Rights establishes that every 
person has the right to recognition as a person before the law. When Messrs. Anetro 
Castillo Pezo, Alejandro Carhuamaca Vilchez, Juan Alberto Vásquez González, 
Arnaldo Ríos Vega, Reiner Ríos Rengifo, Elmer Barrera Del Aguila, David Rodríguez 
Ayachi, Guzmán Penchi Ubiachigua, Darwin Tapullima Huainacama, Venancio Pinchi 
Puyo, Antonio Santiago Chávez Ruiz, Ricardo Fernando Del Río Adrián, Esteban 
Ramos Huayanay, Rafael Tello Acosta, Violeta Campos Linares, Mauricio Java García, 
Olivia Tejada Clemente and Beder Baca Alvarado Alvarado were detained and then 
"disappeared" by State agents, they were excluded from the legal and institutional 
framework of the Peruvian State. In that sense, the forced disappearance of persons 
constitutes the negation of their very existence as human beings recognized as 
persons before the law.34 

118. Thus, the Commission finds that Peru violated the victims’ right to recognition 
as persons before the law, enshrined in Article 3 of the Convention. 

Right to Judicial Protection (Article 25 of the Convention) 

119. From the information provided by the parties, it is clear that the Peruvian State 
has not complied with its obligation to investigate the facts of this case and initiate 
judicial proceedings. 

120. The Inter-American Court of Human Rights has stated that the principles of 
international law "refer not only to the formal existence of such remedies, but also to 
their adequacy and effectiveness, as shown by the exceptions set out in Article 
46(2)."35 It has also made it clear that the failure to provide effective, not merely 
formal, judicial remedies not only entails an exception to the rule that domestic 
remedies must be exhausted, but also constitutes a violation of Article 25 of the 
Convention.36 



121. The writs of habeas corpus were completely ineffective in accomplishing their 
purpose. Criminal procedures under Peruvian domestic jurisdiction were merely 
formal and meaningless red tape and the investigations failed to provide even 
minimal indications of who had been responsible for the detention and subsequent 
disappearance of Messrs. Anetro Castillo Pezo, Alejandro Carhuamaca Vilchez, Juan 
Alberto Vásquez Gonzalez, Arnaldo Ríos Vega, Reiner Ríos Rengifo, Elmer Barrera Del 
Aguila, David Rodríguez Ayachi, Guzmán Penchi Ubiachigua, Darwin Tapullima 
Huainacama, Venancio Pinchi Puyo, Antonio Santiago Chávez Ruiz, Ricardo Fernando 
Del Río Adrián, Esteban Ramos Huayanay, Rafael Tello Acosta, Violeta Campos 
Linares, Mauricio Java García, Olivia Tejada Clemente and Beder Baca Alvarado 
Alvarado. 

122. Peruvian law establishes that in all cases of offenses against the public order, 
the Office of the Attorney General represents both the State and the victim. The 
Office of the Attorney General is obligated to participate in investigating and 
prosecuting the crime. Consequently, it should promote and undertake whatever 
action may be required (provision of evidence, inspections, or any other) to establish 
the veracity of the complaint, to identify those responsible, if applicable, and to bring 
criminal charges against them. 

123. The jurisprudence of the Inter-American Court of Human Rights confirms the 
provisions of domestic law when it refers to the obligation of States and says, with 
regard to the previous point, that "The State has a legal duty (...) to carry out a 
serious investigation of violations committed within its jurisdiction, to identify those 
responsible, to impose the appropriate punishment and to ensure the victim 
adequate compensation."37 

124. The State must not evade, under any pretext, its duty to investigate a case 
involving violation of fundamental human rights. The Court says as much when it 
states that "the investigation... must be undertaken in a serious manner and not as a 
mere formality preordained to be ineffective. An investigation must have an objective 
and be assumed by the State as its own legal duty, not as a step taken by private 
interests that depends upon the initiative of the... family... without an effective 
search for the truth by the government."38 

125. The right to be brought before a competent judge is a fundamental safeguard 
for the rights of any detainee. As the Inter-American Court of Human Rights has 
stated, judicial supervision of detention, through habeas corpus, "performs a vital 
role in ensuring that a person’s life and physical integrity are respected, in 
preventing his disappearance or the keeping of his whereabouts secret and in 
protecting him against torture or other cruel, inhumane, or degrading punishment or 
treatment."39 

126. Precisely for that reason, Article 27 of the American Convention on Human 
Rights has established that essential judicial guarantees safeguarding certain 
fundamental rights cannot be suspended. As the Inter-American Court of Human 
Rights has ruled, "from Article 27(1), moreover, comes the general requirement that 
in any state of emergency there be appropriate means to control the measures 
taken, so that they are proportionate to the needs and do not exceed the strict limits 
imposed by the Convention or derived from it."40 



127. The Court has also stated that the judicial nature of those means presupposes 
"the active involvement of an independent and impartial judicial body having the 
power to pass on the lawfulness of measures adopted in a state of emergency41 and 
that "it must also be understood that the declaration of a state of emergency" 
whatever its breadth or denomination in internal law "cannot entail the suppression 
or ineffectiveness of the judicial guarantees that the Convention requires States 
Parties to establish for the protection of the rights not subject to derogation or 
suspension by the state of emergency."42 

128. According to the Inter-American Court of Human Rights, this also includes the 
right to a fair trial enshrined in Article 8, which "includes the prerequisites necessary 
to ensure the adequate protection of those persons whose rights or obligations are 
pending judicial determination."43 The Court concluded that "the principles of due 
process of law cannot be suspended in states of exception insofar as they are 
necessary conditions for the procedural institutions regulated by the Convention to 
be considered judicial guarantees."44 

129. Such a lack of access to effective domestic remedies against acts that violate 
fundamental rights constitute a violation by the Peruvian State of Articles 8 and 25 of 
the Convention. 

Obligation to respect and guarantee rights 

130. In this case, it has been shown that the Peruvian State failed to comply with the 
obligation, set forth in Article 1(1) of the Convention, "to respect the rights and 
freedoms recognized herein and to ensure to all persons subject to their jurisdiction 
the free and full exercise of those rights and freedoms," because it violated rights 
established in Articles 3, 4, 5, 7, and 25 of the Convention. 

131. The first obligation of States, under Article 1(1) of the Convention, is to respect 
the rights and freedoms of all persons subject to their jurisdiction. With regard to 
this obligation, the Court ruled that "under international law a State is responsible for 
the acts of its agents… and for their omissions, even when those agents act outside 
the sphere of their authority or violate internal law". It ruled also that "any violation 
of rights recognized by the Convention carried out by an act of public authority or by 
persons who use their position of authority is imputable to the State."45 

132. The Commission concludes that the forced disappearance of Messrs. Anetro 
Castillo Pezo, Alejandro Carhuamaca Vilchez, Juan Alberto Vásquez González, 
Arnaldo Ríos Vega, Reiner Ríos Rengifo, Elmer Barrera Del Aguila, David Rodríguez 
Ayachi, Guzman Penchi Ubiachigua, Darwin Tapullima Huainacama, Venancio Pinchi 
Puyo, Antonio Santiago Chávez Ruiz, Ricardo Fernando Del Río Adrián, Esteban 
Ramos Huayanay, Rafael Tello Acosta, Violeta Campos Linares, Mauricio Java García, 
Olivia Tejada Clemente and Beder Baca Alvarado Alvarado were acts perpetrated by 
agents of public authority, and that, therefore, the Peruvian State violated the rights 
of those victims, enshrined in Article 1(1) of the Convention, in relation to violations 
of Articles 3, 4, 5, 7, and 25 of the Convention. 

133. The second obligation set forth in Article 1(1) is to ensure free and full exercise 
of the rights and freedoms recognized in the Convention. On this the Court’s 
jurisprudence establishes that: "This obligation implies the duty of the States Parties 
to organize the governmental apparatus, and, in general, all the structures through 



which public power is exercised, so that they are capable of juridically ensuring the 
free and full enjoyment of human rights. As a consequence of this obligation, States 
must prevent, investigate, and punish any violation of the rights recognized by the 
Convention …"46 

134. In the event of a "forced disappearance", the State is obligated to ascertain the 
whereabouts and situation of the victim, punish those responsible, and make 
reparation to the family members. In the case at hand, these obligations have not 
been met. Therefore, the Commission concludes that the Peruvian State has violated 
Article 1(1) of the Convention by failing to ensure the exercise of the rights and 
guarantees of the individuals involved. 

VII.    CONSIDERATIONS WITH RESPECT TO THE RESPONSE OF THE STATE  

135. The Commission approved Report Nº 64/98 (Article 50) on the instant case on 
September 30, 1998, at its 100th session. The aforesaid report enclosing the 
Commission’s recommendations was forwarded on October 20, 1998, to the Peruvian 
State, which was given two months in which to comply with the recommendations, 
counted from the date of sending the report. 

136. The State conveyed to the Commission its responses to Report Nº 64/98 by 
means of note Nº 7-5-M/575, of December 20, 1998. In the aforesaid responses the 
State expressed various considerations explaining its disagreement with aspects of 
fact and law contained in the aforementioned report, as well as with the conclusions 
that the Commission reached. Thus, for instance, the State questioned the 
considerations on admissibility contained in the aforesaid report, especially in 
relation to the Commission’s conclusion with respect to there having existed the 
practice or policy of causing disappearances that rendered petitions for habeas 
corpus ineffective, and which, in consequence, made it unnecessary to pursue such a 
procedure in order to exhaust the remedies under domestic law. The State also 
alleged that the terrorist violence that affected Peru generated a series of situations 
that clearly altered the normal course of development of Peruvian society and that 
"the issue of disappearances has been used to question that process which has made 
it possible to achieve great progress in the pacification of the country". The State 
mentioned reports by the Commission and by other international organizations in 
which reference was made to the violence and terror that characterized the activities 
of the dissident groups, and added that although the Shining Path did not, generally 
speaking, cause people to disappear, it is possible that many people taken as 
disappeared in actual fact may have joined the aforesaid group. 

137. The State affirmed in its responses that "although, in the course of the counter-
subversive struggle, cases were recorded of excesses or abuses committed by 
members of the security forces--cases that were investigated and punished--there 
has never existed a systematic or officially sanctioned practice of forced 
disappearances". At the same time the State added that the situation of extreme 
violence that devastated Peru made the task of investigating individual complaints 
very complex, a situation aggravated inasmuch as "the majority of complaints are 
incomplete, the spelling of the name flawed, the circumstances of the disappearance 
vague, and the date and place thereof imprecise", added to which is the fact that the 
terrorist groups tried to present the armed force as the sole originators of mass 
violations of human rights. 



138. Peru replied furthermore that it cannot be charged with transgression of the 
right to personal liberty enshrined in Article 7 of the Convention, since that right was 
suspended, pursuant to the provisions of Article 27 of the American Convention, on 
grounds of there having arisen a situation of "emergency that threatens the 
independence or security of a State Party" as referred to in the said Article. 

139. As to the specific case of the disappearance of Mr. Ricardo Fernando Del Río 
Adrián, the State claimed to have seen "a partial description of the version of events 
set out by the petitioner, both in the complaint and in the observations and annexes 
presented", and explained its arguments in that respect. The State added that the 
petition neglected to mention that a provincial government prosecutor accompanied 
by a sister of Mr. Del Río Adrián, inspected the interior of the barracks, and that it 
failed to outline the arguments on the basis of which the State supported its position 
of denial of responsibility in that arrest. With respect to the case of Mr. Esteban 
Ramos Huayanay, the State argued that the petition failed to specify the fruitless 
outcome of the investigations carried out by the Office of the Attorney-General, and 
added that the fact that the outcome was unfavorable does not mean that the State 
did not undertake a serious and impartial investigation. As for the case of Mr. Rafael 
Tello Acosta, the State asserted that the aforesaid person was detained neither by 
the police nor by military forces. 

140. Finally, the State ratified arguments and evidence that it offered throughout the 
proceedings before the Commission, stated its discrepancy in respect of the 
Commission’s conclusions that Peruvian army personnel arrested and caused the 
victims to disappear and, after the assertion that the two-month period granted for 
complying with the recommendations was too brief, mentioned a number of 
considerations regarding the recommendations made to it by the Commission. 

141. On the question of the Commission’s recommendation that the State conduct a 
serious and impartial investigation of the events relating to the disappearances of 
the victims, the State replied that the investigation that it carried out at the time in 
question was serious and impartial, and, therefore, that recommendation would 
appear already to have been fulfilled. 

142. As for the Commission’s recommendation that the State annul any measure, be 
it domestic, legislative or of any other nature, that tends to impede the investigation, 
processing, and punishment of the persons responsible for the arrest and/or 
disappearance of the victims, especially amnesty laws Nos. 26479 and 26492, the 
State claims that those laws are consonant with the Peruvian Constitution. 

143. In relation to the Commission’s recommendation that the State provide 
compensation to the relatives of the victims, Peru responded that it deems such a 
recommendation to be out of order, since "the responsibility of agents of the 
Peruvian State has not been ascertained". 

144. On the question of the Commission’s recommendation that the State adhere to 
the Inter-American Convention on the Forced Disappearance of Persons, Peru 
answered that such an act constitutes an act of sovereignty that pertains to the 
Peruvian Congress and added that the Peruvian State has included in its domestic 
legislation aspects relating to forced disappearance of persons as an offense against 
human rights. 



145. The Commission abstains from analyzing the repetition by the Peruvian State of 
arguments made prior to adoption of the aforementioned Report Nº 64/98 and its 
statements of disagreement with that report, since, pursuant to the provisions of 
Article 51(1) of the Convention, what the Commission must determine at this stage 
of the proceedings is whether or not the State has resolved the matter.  

146. The Commission must insist, nonetheless, that pursuant to the provisions of 
Article 27(3) of the American Convention, states parties can, under certain conditions 
and circumstances, suspend exercise of the right to personal liberty enshrined in 
Article 7 of the Convention. Nevertheless, as was mentioned above, power to arrest 
does not grant the security forces unlimited powers enabling them to arrest people 
arbitrarily. Suspension of the guarantee of personal liberty, authorized by Article 27 
of the American Convention on Human Rights, can never be total. There are 
underlying principles in all democratic societies that the security forces must observe 
in order to formalize an arrest, even under states of emergency. The legal 
prerequisites of an arrest are obligations that all state officials must respect in 
compliance with the international commitment acquired under the Convention to 
protect and respect human rights. Furthermore, based on the foregoing principles, 
the sole purpose of police or military arrest, as a precautionary measure, must be to 
prevent the flight of a person suspected of a criminal act, and thus ensure his 
appearance before a competent judge, in order to be brought to trial within a 
reasonable time or, as the case may be, released. On no account does Article 27 of 
the Convention permit a person to be detained by agents of the state with the 
purpose of being made to disappear. 

147. As to compliance with the recommendations that the Commission made to the 
Peruvian State in the aforementioned Report Nº 64/98, the Commission finds that 
the State has failed to comply with any of the recommendations the Commission 
made. The only concrete affirmation regarding the State’s alleged compliance with 
one of the Commission’s recommendations refers to its submission that the 
investigation that it carried out at the time in question, which concluded that the 
armed forces are not responsible for the disappearance of the victims, was a serious 
and impartial investigation, and that, therefore, it would seem already to have 
fulfilled the Commission’s recommendation on that score. The Commission must 
point out to the Peruvian State that those investigations were carried out several 
years before adoption on September 30, 1998, of the aforementioned Report Nº 
64/98 by the Commission. The Commission subsequently would have deemed the 
investigations conducted by the State serious and impartial had the State found and 
punished the guilty parties and not granted them an amnesty, instead of basing its 
conclusions on a question of fact, namely that agents of the State were not 
responsible for the disappearances.  

148. With respect to the submission by Peru that the amnesty laws are in keeping 
with the Peruvian Constitution, the Commission considers it important to remind the 
Peruvian State that in ratifying the American Convention on Human Rights on July 
28, 1978, it undertook the obligation to respect and ensure to all the inhabitants of 
that country the rights enshrined therein. Accordingly, and pursuant to the 
provisions of Article 27 of the Convention of Vienna on the Law of Treaties, the 
Peruvian State may not invoke the provisions of its internal law as justification for its 
failure to perform the obligations it undertook in ratifying the American Convention 
on Human Rights. Over the years, the Commission has ruled in a number of key 
cases in which it was able to express its point of view and firm up its doctrine on the 



application of amnesty laws. These rulings have uniformly stated that both amnesty 
laws and comparable legislative measures that impede or stop the investigation and 
prosecution of government agents who may be responsible for serious violations of 
the Convention or the American Declaration are in violation of multiple provisions of 
these instruments.47 This doctrine has been confirmed by the Inter-American Court of 
Human Rights, which has established that it is the duty of the States Parties "to 
investigate human rights violations, prosecute those responsible and avoid 
impunity."48 The Court has defined impunity as the lack of investigation, prosecution, 
capture, trial, and conviction of those responsible for human rights violations and has 
affirmed that States have the obligation to use all the legal means at their disposal 
to combat that situation, since impunity fosters chronic recidivism of human rights 
violations, and total defenselessness of victims and their relatives.49 The States 
Parties to the American Convention may not invoke provisions of domestic law, such 
as amnesty law, to avoid complying with their obligation to guarantee that justice is 
fully and duly served.50 

149. Concerning the recommendation made by the Commission that Peru provide 
compensation to the victims’ relatives, in respect of which the State claims to be 
unable to do so because the responsibility of agents of the Peruvian State has not 
been ascertained, it is observed that the Commission, in exercise of the powers 
conferred on it by the States themselves, the Peruvian State included, ascertained 
that the Peruvian State is responsible for the disappearance of the victims. By virtue 
of the foregoing, the argument of not providing compensation to the victims based 
on the assertion that responsibility for the aforesaid disappearances has not been 
ascertained is groundless, since, as was established, the party responsible for those 
disappearances is the Peruvian State. 

150. In relation to the recommendation that Peru adhere to the Inter-American 
Convention on Forced Disappearance of Persons, which the State maintains entails a 
manifestation of sovereignty that pertains to the Peruvian Congress, the Commission 
observes that compliance with that recommendation precisely entails that the State 
pursue the pertinent internal procedures for Peru to become party to the said 
Convention, as another element intended to attempt to prevent future repetition of 
cases of forced disappearance in Peru.  

VIII.    CONCLUSION 

151. On the basis of the evidence on file, the Commission concludes that Peruvian 
Army personnel deployed in the Department of San Martín proceeded to illegally 
detain, and bring about the disappearance of, Messrs. Anetro Castillo Pezo, Alejandro 
Carhuamaca Vilchez, Juan Alberto Vásquez González, Arnaldo Ríos Vega, Reiner Ríos 
Rengifo, Elmer Barrera Del Aguila, David Rodríguez Ayachi, Guzmán Penchi 
Ubiachigua, Darwin Tapullima Huainacama, Venancio Pinchi Puyo, Antonio Santiago 
Chávez Ruiz, Ricardo Fernando Del Río Adrián, Esteban Ramos Huayanay, Rafael 
Tello Acosta, Violeta Campos Linares, Mauricio Java García, Olivia Tejada Clemente 
and Beder Baca Alvarado Alvarado, for which reason the Peruvian State is 
responsible for violating the right to juridical personality (Article 3), the right to life 
(Article 4), the right to humane treatment (Article 5), the right to personal liberty 
(Article 7), and the right to judicial protection (Article 35), enshrined in the American 
Convention on Human Rights. It has also failed to comply with its overall obligation 
to respect and ensure the exercise of these rights, which are enshrined in the 
Convention, as stipulated in Article 1(1) thereof. 



IX.    RECOMMENDATIONS  

On the basis of the analysis and conclusion set forth in this report, 

THE INTER-AMERICAN COMMISSION ON HUMAN RIGHTS RECOMMENDS TO 
THE PERUVIAN STATE THAT IT: 

1. Initiate a serious, impartial, and effective investigation of the facts in order to 
establish the whereabouts of Messrs. Anetro Castillo Pezo, Alejandro Carhuamaca 
Vilchez, Juan Alberto Vásquez González, Arnaldo Ríos Vega, Reiner Ríos Rengifo, 
Elmer Barrera Del Aguila, David Rodríguez Ayachi, Guzmán Penchi Ubiachigua, 
Darwin Tapullima Huainacama, Venancio Pinchi Puyo, Antonio Santiago Chávez Ruiz, 
Ricardo Fernando Del Río Adrián, Esteban Ramos Huayanay, Rafael Tello Acosta, 
Violeta Campos Linares, Mauricio Java García, Olivia Tejada Clemente and Beder 
Baca Alvarado Alvarado, and to identify those responsible for their detention and 
disappearance, in order that those responsible be sentenced, in appropriate criminal 
proceedings, to punishments established by law and commensurate with the gravity 
of the above-mentioned violations. 

2. Suspend any domestic measure, whether legislative or of any other sort, designed 
to hinder the investigation, indictment, and punishment of those responsible for the 
detention and disappearance of Messrs. Anetro Castillo Pezo, Alejandro Carhuamaca 
Vilchez, Juan Alberto Vásquez González, Arnaldo Ríos Vega, Reiner Ríos Rengifo, 
Elmer Barrera Del Aguila, David Rodríguez Ayachi, Guzmán Penchi Ubiachigua, 
Darwin Tapullima Huainacama, Venancio Pinchi Puyo, Antonio Santiago Chávez Ruiz, 
Ricardo Fernando Del Río Adrián, Esteban Ramos Huayanay, Rafael Tello Acosta, 
Violeta Campos Linares, Mauricio Java García, Olivia Tejada Clemente and Beder 
Baca Alvarado Alvarado. To that end, the State should repeal Acts Nos. 26479 and 
26492. 

3. Grant appropriate reparations to the relatives of Messrs. Anetro Castillo Pezo, 
Alejandro Carhuamaca Vilchez, Juan Alberto Vásquez González, Arnaldo Ríos Vega, 
Reiner Ríos Rengifo, Elmer Barrera Del Aguila, David Rodríguez Ayachi, Guzmán 
Penchi Ubiachigua, Darwin Tapullima Huainacama, Venancio Pinchi Puyo, Antonio 
Santiago Chávez Ruiz, Ricardo Fernando Del Río Adrián, Esteban Ramos Huayanay, 
Rafael Tello Acosta, Violeta Campos Linares, Mauricio Java García, Olivia Tejada 
Clemente and Beder Baca Alvarado Alvarado, including payment of compensation for 
the suffering caused by the lack of information on the whereabouts of the victims. 

. 4. Accede to the Inter-American Convention on the Forced Disappearance of 
Persons. 

X.    PUBLICATION 

152. On March 3, 1999, the Commission transmitted Report 13/99--the text of which 
precedes--to the Peruvian State and to the petitioners, according to article 51(2) of 
the Convention, and granted Peru a one month period to comply with the 
recommendations set above. The State did not respond within the specified time. 

.153. According to the above considerations, and to Articles 51(3) of the American 
Convention and 48 of the Commission’s regulations, the Commission decides to 



reiterate the conclusion set forth in chapter VIII supra; to reiterate the 
recommendations set forth in chapter IX supra; to make public the present report 
and to include it in its Annual Report to the OAS General Assembly. The Commission, 
according to the norms contained in the instruments which govern its mandate, will 
continue evaluating the measures adopted by the Peruvian State in respect to the 
above recommendations, until they have been fully complied with by the Peruvian 
State. 

Approved by the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights in the city of 
Washington, D.C. on the 13 day of the month of April, 1999. (Signed): Robert K. 
Goldman Chairman; Hélio Bicudo First Vice Chairman; Claudio Grossman, Second 
Vice Chairman; Commissioners Alvaro Tirado Mejía and Jean Joseph Exumé. 
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